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‘Kirton was a Market town when Exeter was a fuzzy down.’

This attractive local ditty shows a healthy competitive spirit, but is at variance with
evidence of archaeology and written sources so far. Exeter has an unbroken descent from
Celtic Caerwisc and Roman Isca and so is probably 700 years older than Kirton. Yet
Crediton alias Kirton (as officially known up to 1793) has a fully documented and ancient
history of over 1200 years - with charters and records from 739 A.D. ‘unrivalled in
Devon’ according to one authority.

No substantial remains earlier than Saxon have been found on the site of Crediton.
‘the tun on the Creedy’. Most place names in Devon even on Dartmoor are Saxon, but
Saxons happily used Celtic or British river names when making tuns or farms in river
valleys. One argument has been made that the river was originally called the Yeo and that
Cridie (as spelled in first charter of 739 A.D.) took its name from a holy place or cross
dedicated to St. Creedan.

Whatever the origin of the name, it seems likely that some time between 690, when
Exeter was in Saxon hands and had an English abbot in the monastery there, and 722
by which time Saxons had advanced to the river Hayle in Cornwall, the rest of the ancient
British kingdom of Dumnonia or Devon was settled by Saxon thegns (lords) and ceorls
(peasants). They probably came up the Exe and Creedy to this valley in the hills.

According to tradition and field boundaries it seems that the first Saxon tun or
farm estate was in the area of Tolleys cottage (The Retreat)off Mill Street (as on Mr.
Luxton’s map p.3), near the ancient river crossing of Creedy Bridge, with water supply,
yet safe from floods. (Romans interested in towns and roads whereas Saxons wanted
rivers and lush valleys for villages or tuns). The long strips of the 2 or 3 ‘open’ fields lay
to the North and South of present Exhibition Road with Lord’s Meadow in centre
mentioned even in 1630 Westcote’s View of Devonshire as: ‘a rich plot of land.’

According to a very early tradition (recorded in Bishop Grandisson’s Literary
Calendar, fourteenth century) Cridie-tun was the site of Wynfrith or St. Boniface’s birth-
place. This monk missionary - the ‘Apostle of Germany’ a very human and charming
Gospel preacher, was by tradition born near Tolleys, around 675 A.D. of a christian
British mother and perhaps pagan Saxon father. As result of Wynfrith's reputation and
his family’s dedication to Holy Cross it seems likely that Cridie was eventually chosenas
site for a bishopric in preference to walled Exeter. Thy boy Wynfrith (as depicted in our
statue) went to Exeter monastery, then on to Nursling near Winchester as pupil, then
teacher at the monastic school (a great verse and scripture scholar). Aged about 40 he
went as missionary to Frisia, back again in 717, to refuse ele:tion as abbot of Nursling,
then back to missionary work in 718, never again to return to England. Consecrated
Bishop in 722 with a roving commission north of the Alps, Boniface travelled ceaselessly,
founding monasteries amidst physical danger and hardship — felling the sacred oak of
Geismar - visiting Rome to obtain Papal help - establishing bishoprics and holding synods
(after his creation as Archbishop). After establishing his successor at Mainz and setting
his affairs in order, for the last three years of his life, with a few helpers, Boniface set out
on another mission along the Zuider Zee coast, there to be cut down by a surprise attack
of armed heathens on June 5th 754, at Dokkum, whilst preparing confirmation. His
body was, according to his wishes, carried to rest at his favourite monastery at Fulda.
This fearless champion of justice and morality has left us 39 surviving letters,
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Seven documents known as the Crawford Charters, now in the Bodleian Library,
Oxford, (purchased from a Mr. W. Crawford in 1891 and apparently at one time in the
keeping of the Latin School) give us our next evidence relating to Cridie. The Charter of
739 (probably an 11th century transcript) says ‘wherefore I King Aethelheard have been

careful to bestow upon our Bishop Forthere, for ever, some land to build a monastery —
that is 20 hides in the place which is called Cridie.’

So Cridie East Town, as the Saxon part later became distinguished — by 739 had

its monastery and chapel (probably simple wooden buildings — most Saxon ones were
until 10th century).

909 A.D. The diocese of Sherborne which included Devon, was divided into three
at the death of old Bishop Asser (the biographer of Alfred the Great) and a new bishop’s
seat was established at Cridiantun (as it was now called) with jurisdiction over all Devon.
The first bishop, Eadulf obtained more land at Sandford in 930, and founded a large
collegiate church at Cridiantun. Bishop Alfwold’s bequest 1012, brought more land at
Sandford to ‘the minster at Cridiantun for his soul shot, with stock and men as it stands
except penal slaves.” Before the end of the 10th century Cridiantun had a great, well-
furnished Church with 18 prebends and 18 vicars. Nine bishops held Cridiantun before
‘the greatest blow to the prosperity of Crediton and the glories of its church’, the
removal of the bishop’s seat to Exeter 1050. These were difficult days of Viking Raids —
on one occasion in the 1040’s Danes are reputed to have come down the old main road
over Whitestone and Fordton and bumed the Saxon Cathedral of St. Mary. This was as
good an excuse as any to move the see to Exeter (a site well chosen by the Romans for
defence and trade). Pope Leo IX, following a request made by English Bishops at the
Council of Rheims 1049 wrote ‘In the case of our brother Leofric we command and

entreat you that of your love for the Lord and for us, you will assist him to remove his
throne from the college of Crediton to the City of Exeter.’

Leofric, last Saxon Bishop of Cridiantun and chaplain to Edward Confessor, was
installed in the Saxon Church at Exeter in the presence of King, Queen and Court.
(Norman Cathedral, of which twin towers only remain — built 1107-1200) ‘And because
of the distress of the people and the devastation of their goods — for the pirates have
been able to plunder the churches of Cornwall and Crediton — it seemed clear that there

is a safer defence against enemies in the town of Exeter, therefore I will that the see
should be there.’

When William I had the Domesday Survey made in 1086, of the Lands of the
church of St. Peter in Exeter ‘The Bishop has a manor called Chritetona which in the
time of King Edward paid Geld for 15 hides. These, 185 ploughs can till. Thereof the
bishop has 6 hides and 13 ploughs in demesne and his knights and villeins have between
them 9 hides and 172 ploughs. There the bishop has 264 villeins, 73 bordars, 40 serfs,
30 swineheads paying 150 swine yearly, 4 rounceys, 64 beasts, 57 swine, 400 sheep all
but 12, 115 goats, 1 mill paying 30 pence a year, wood 5 leagues in length and half a
league in breadth, 80 acres of meadow and 200 acres of pasture. It is worth 75 pounds a
year — when the bishop first received it, it was paying 21 pounds.’

The Lordship lands included Creedy Barton (existed as home farm of Bishop
until beginning of 19th century — area of White Hart), Lord’s Meadow — 80 acres, 200
acres of pasture (later the Great Park — whole ridge S. and W. of East Town) one mill

and extensive woodland, whilst 172 ploughlands or virgates (average 30 acres each) were
cultivated by knights and villeins. :
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For a time after losing its bishop the Church here was in a bad way. Better
conditions resulted from Bishop Warelwast’s grants (1107-1137); in fact it is likely that
the new Norman Collegiate Church, built of stone, was founded at this time, near the
site of the earlier Saxon wooden church. ‘The place where the old Cathedral Church of
Crideton stoode is now occupied with building of houses by the new churche yard side’

- according to Leland’s Itinerary 1545 (as quoted in 1822 View of Devonshire, by
Lysons),

Further improvements came later in the twelvth and thirteenth centuries, with
new buildings for the collegiate church (east of present church — Governors Room and
Lady Chapel). The number of canons reduced under Bishop Warelwast, increased again to
18 under Bishop Bronescombe 1261. Then, under Bishop Grandisson, 4 vicars choral
and 4 singing boys were added in 1334, with new regulations for the Chapter, under
its highest dignitary the Precentor.

* * *

Crideton (or Cridinton) West Town or the Borough as it was known, came into
being on the slope outside and to the west of the Bishop’s Park, possibly about the year
1200 (no definite evidence of date granted). According to Norden’s Terrier 1598 the
Borough extended from St. Laurence's Green to North Street (or Litterburn Lane as it
was called, the Litter-burn or stream running in valley north of present High Street down
to a pool, west of Church, and on to Lord’s Meadow). West Town had its cross which
remained in its rightful place near the entrance to North Street, until at least the
Crimean War 1854 (socket of it, now in middlg of the Green!) Earliest mention of ‘the
new ville’ was made in 1231 when a weekly market on Thursdays and an annual Fair of
3 days at St. Laurence tide (Autumn) was granted to Bishop Brewer (1224-44) by King
Henry 1II (Calendar of Patent Rolls). The assize Roll of 1238, is the first mention of
Crediton as a borough. In 1242 this bishop speaks of ‘our new borough’ or town in a
grant of land ‘known as Jocelin’s hill’ (later George Hill, for on its summit stood St.
George’s Chapel mentioned 1598 — ruins probably used for a beacon in time of Armada
and later French Wars, and flattened in 1908 when the field there was used for the
Devon County Show!). St. Laurence’s Chapel, built about this time, was also mentioned
in the deed. Nearby was a leper hospital and burial ground — still remembered in the
name St. Laurence’s Green. Western Road was only a back lane called ‘Ye Old Waye’
until 1825 the main way out of the town being by Threshers to Barnstaple Cross.
Martin’s Lane too up to the 1860's was only a storm water channel and Alexandra Road
was ‘Turnagain Lane’ — a dead end road not crossing Chapel Downs to reach Western
Road until the 1800’s.

Crediton, as it was first now called had a Spring Cattle Fair granted in 1306 by
Edward I, who in 1307 summoned 2 burgesses to attend a Parliament at Carlisle. (There
is no record of their attendance, and apparently Crediton burgesses were never summoned
again!). Then in 1309 Bishop Stapledon granted a Market on Tuesdays and 2 Fairs of 9
days each. Crediton from then until the eighteenth century developed as a centre and
market for woollen serge or ‘chain’ making. ‘As fine as Kirton spinning’ became a bye
word (according to Westcote’s View of Devonshire 1630). In the courtyards behind the
Masters’ houses of the main ‘Broad and Narrow Street’ lay the sheds for serge spinning
and weaving. There was a fulling (or cleansing) mill here in 1301 (probably at Fordton -
worked by a water wheel). In the Assize Roll of 1334, the Borough was taxed at
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£4.1.1d, more prosperous then than Tiverton. In the middle of Broad Street (the wide
part of High Street), there grew up a number of public buildings (probably mostly of
wood) for selling wool, corn, fish and meat (shambles) stocks, pillary and whippipg
post — all still there indeed, until removed in the 1836 ‘improvements’. Kyrtone (its
fourteenth century name) had its own alnager or wool-tax official for the King.

Apparently the Black Death Plague 1348-51, and decline in demand for food,
bit Kyrtone badly — the respectable market town became it seems ‘a decayed overgrown
village in 1400’s’ according to one modern authority. Kyrtone was excused three quarters
of its tax in 1445, no doubt to the delight of the still prosperous serge makers, who at
this time had just rebuilt, in the new Perpendicular Style, complete with central tower
and renowned clerestorey ‘one of the most magnificent parish churches in Devon.” In
1399 the Bishop of Exeter directed that the prebends of Kyrtone should contribute
towards the cost of completing the Choir of their church, the Norman and later buildings,
having become ruinous. Following the rebuilding of the Choir about 1400, the Nave
(said to be nearly levelled with the ground in 1413) was rebuilt between 1413 and
1418 with work continuing during the term of Bishop Lacy (1455).

* * ®

Great changes took place in the 1540’s. Everyone knows that Henry VIII was not
only after a new wife Anne Boleyn, when he broke with Rome, but also needed money.
In 1547 Kirton College of 18 canons, 18 vicars, 4 singing boys and 4 lay clerks was
dissolved (the revenues then worth £322) and the Parishioners paid £200 for the privilege
of preserving their Parish Church. (Kirton was its name now onwards) Shortly before this,
Bishop Veysey in 1542 made over Kirton Park, mills, marsh and 100 acres to Sir Thomas
Denys. Kirton’s Latin or Grammar School, the successor to the Medieval monastic school,
was refounded by Edward VI ‘instigated by the affection which he bore toward the
children within the County of Devon, that they might thereafter be endued with more
polished learning than was formerly usual, thereby erected and founded for ever, a free
grammar school in the said parish to be called ‘the King’s New Grammar School of
Crediton.” This charter was confirmed under Elizabeth I hence ‘Queen Elizabeth’s

School’ meeting in the Lady Chapel from then onwards until the 1859 opening of its
new buildings on ‘the green’.

An even worse change of fortunes came in 1540 when despite protests the Wool
Market was transferred to Exeter. (Another take-over?).

Another excitement for Kirton came with the Prayer Book Rebellion of 1549,
started by rebels from Sampford Courtenay and joined by some from Kirton, who
thought the new English translations of the Prayers sounded like ‘a Christmas game’.
According to a letter of 1549 in Protector Somerset’s own handwriting (uncle of
Edward VI).

‘We are advertised that certain of our subjects hath of late in that our county of
Devon repined and rebelled against the most godly proceedings of Parliament at
Westminster concerning the book set forth by our authority in full parliament of the
rite and ceremonies to be used in our church of England’.
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